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Pioneer Hall, the first building of McMinnville College on its new 
campus laid out in 1881, is a four story structure located on the south 
side of McMinnvillej Oregon, This building stands on the south bank of 
Cozine Creek about one-half mile west of that stream's junction with the 
Yamhill River. Pioneer Hall faces north toward the creek and is situated 
in an oak grove of approximately three acres.

Writing about this building during the week of its dedication in 
June»-i 1883^ a journalist rfoE .the Yamhill. Reporter noted: .. , _

Gradually the work grew into a massive structure of 
four stories3 its lofty dome rising proudly above tine 
town-arid valley. Standing upon a beautiful elevation3 
surrounded "by a shady oak grove3 the college forms a 
most picturesque and lovely aspect. Art and nature 
left nothing unfinished.

The building possesses the shape of an truncated Greek Cross. It con­ 
sists of a three story, brick building set upon a high basement made of 
roughly dressed s local basalt quarried about three miles southwest of the 
campus. The building has one main entry on its north elevation. Originally 
an exposed staircase with a landing mid-way rose to the entrance porch. Two 
rather massive, wood doors with a recessed fanlight filled the entry bay. 
The; .structure^;.corners tone, bearing the date May 31, 1882, is located at
the entrance level on the north east corner of the building./' . '' .. ' •• i , ,.. . / ....—....,-,.

Pioneer Hall is surmounted by a square cupola set at the junction 
of ..the four wings, of the building. The bracketed roof of the cupola is strongly 
mansard in appearance but has a shingled, central spire which Compromises 
the-.barqque feeling of the design. The cupola, containing a carillon,- -; 
has three bays of louvered panels on each of its four elevations. The 
building has a low, truncated hip roof with boxed eaves and decorative 
wood brackets carrying the cornice. Originally, four chimneys with 
corbelled tops rose through the roof on the north, east, and west eleva­ 
tions. Small pediments are centered abo\te the eaves on the east and 
west elevations, and a segmental pediment is centered above the entry bay 
on the north elevation.

The fenestration of the building is regular and consists of one- 
over-one double hung sash windows. The arch heads and windowjioods vary in 
each story. Windpw openings in the basement are flat-arched TnT^ave stone 
lugs i 11 s »'••; they are set off from, the squared ashlar basement .wall by cement 
surrounds. Openings of the first, second and third stories have round, segmen­ 
tal and flat arch heads, respectively, with bracketed hoods of corresponding 
shape.

(see "Continuation Sheet")
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7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

Pioneer Hall has a band of sandstone atop its basalt base, and a brick 
beltcourse defines the main story. Brick exterior walls are further articu­ 
lated by strip pilasters. A single-story wing on basement telescoping from 
the south arm of the cross serves as the stage area for the chapel-auditorium.

In 1946 this building had extensive interior alterations similar to 
those made in Deady Hall on the campus of the University of Oregon. Structural 
wejekness and non-compliance with code requirements led to the removal of much 
ofHhe interior for the placing of steel beams to support the floors. While 
many of the rooms were kept in an arrangement similar to the original, others 
were not. Prior to 1946 the interior walls had been covered with fir wains- 
coating which was stained or varnished. The wood interior walls were replaced 
with plaster. Although alterations were made in the chapel, the room was re­ 
tained as a small auditorium with stage and now is the college's theatre. 
Probably in the 1920s a low, one story addition was attached at the basement 
level on the southeast side of the building for use as a kitchen. Until 1961 
the basement level of Pioneer Hall served as the college's dining commons.

In the past 94 years the exterior of this building has had little change. 
The most obvious alterations have been the removal of the chimneys in 1946 and 
the replacement of the original, double wood entry doors. The outside stair­ 
way had been converted to a single flight without landing as early as 1897. 
Some ornaments on the porch roof and on the building's roof have also been re­ 
moved over the years. The basic design and ornamental integrity of the stuc- 
ture's facade remains on all elevations. Pioneer Hall is yet, in 1976, the 
tallest building in Yamhill County.
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SPECIFIC DATES 1882-1883 BUILDER/ARCHITECT Prof. W. S. White, architect
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Pioneer Hall was th'e i;farge;st strudtlir^ Erected 4fih Y^nflliilf'douhty fn the l! ( 
nineteeth century. This building's construction was anticipated when on 
July 17, 1874, the Board of Trustees of McMinnville College, a Baptist in­ 
stitution, took action to erect a brick building at a cost of $20,000. The 
structure was to replace the original college hall which stood five blocks 
north of the present site of the Linfield campus. The college's first build­ 
ing had been constructed following legislative approval of the college's 
charter in 1858. By the 1870s this two story, wood frame building needed 
major repairs and was on a campus which had been rapidly diminished in size 
by sale of lots to meet college expenses.

Although the Board of Trustees began work in 1874 to construct a new 
building, the college's financial condition precluded any fund raising for 
the structure until June, 1879, when a vote approved soliciting $25,000 
for a building. By July 4, 1881, the college had pledges of $20,000, in­ 
cluding a gift of $25 from John D. Rockefeller. In August df'thai'year 'Samuel 
and Mahala Cozine gave the trustees twenty acres for a new campus north of 
Cozine Creek. Mrs. P. W. Chandler offered to sell another 20 acres to the 
trustees for, $1,200 with the promise of a gift of $700 toward the new building 
should her offer be accepted. With plans "that had already beeri^drawh",-the f 
trustees were r^ady to commence construction. They contracted with William 
T.Newby, the founder of McMinnville, to manufacture 300,000 bricks 3for the " r 
building.

The minutes of the Board of Trustees note that on March 23, 1881, four 
architects had submitted plans for the new building. These men are referred 
to as Prof. W.S. White, Ypton, W. N. Lewis, and Joseph Sherwin. After re­ 
viewing the plans and discussing them with the architects, the Trustees 
on March 24 selected the plans of Prof. W. S. White. The college records 
do not indicate whether or not White was a teacher in the institution or 
whether he had employment somewhere else in the Pacific Northwest.

f-iVi/i Of! May 31, 1882, the cornerstone was laid prv the top course of stone 
for the basement level. The minutes of the'Boar^of'trustees'recorded^the 
event:

The Board of Trustees and President of the College
summonedby the clarion strains of music from the ;
McMinnville Brass Band gathered at the old college building.
At half past one, we started, led by said band, for the
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grove at the front of the new College Building where 
seats were soon filled while many others occupied 
seats In carriages or stood on the ground. The music 
by the Band and Glee Club was excellent; and the 
exercises throughout were Intersting and profitable... 
the corner stone weighing one third of a ton with 
Its precious documents and 'Word of Life' was put 
In Its appropriate place to preserve for future ages 
the record of struggles, trials3 and triumphs of 
the past and present.

The building was completed in March, 1883, and was dedicated on 
a day of sermons and songs on June 12, 1883. The college catalog of 
1885 noted that this building measured 106 feet by 79 feet. In that 
year the basement held the "boarding" department or dining area. On 
the second or main floor were the chapel, President's Rooms, and 
classrooms. The third and fourth floors held student rooms, the 
library and society rooms for college activities.

Pioneer Hall exhibits some elements of the "Bracketed Villa" 
manner used, for example, in the construction of the Washington County 
Courthouse in Hillsboro about 1872. That .two-story, .brick building 
had round-arch window bays, boxed cornices with brackets, pediments at 
the roof level on each elevation, tall chimneys with corbelled tops, 
and a central cupola. Pioneer Hall, however, has greater vertical 
height than most "public buildings" in Oregon erected in the 1870s 
and 1880s. Its excess of extraneous window decoration puts it 
in rather sharp contrast to the simpler, somewhat more pleasing, 
Jackson County Courthouse in Jacksonville. In some details Pioneer 
Hall is very similar to the now destroyed Umatilla County Courthouse 
erected in 1888 in Pendleton. The porch treatments at the main entry 
of these two buildings are very similar and so too is the use of 
the high basement, eave brackets, and truncated hip roof. Both the 
Umatilla Count Courthouse and Pioneer Hall had central cupolas with 
mansard-like elements.

Whatever its architectural affinities, this building is a strong 
expression of local design and construction skills. It is an inter­ 
esting example of nineteenth century educational-residential archi­ 
tecture and in this regard stands with Benton Hall (OSU), Waller Hall 
(Willamette University), Campbell Hall (OCE), and Deady Hall (U. of 
Oregon) as a surviving college structure of the period 1865-1885. 
All of these buildings are of brick construction.

Use of Pioneer Hall has altered little over the nine decades that 
it has been in use. In 1976 the basement level contains classrooms,
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facultyoffices, a radio station, and the psychology department labor­ 
atory. The main level has four faculty offices and the college theatre, 
The third and fourth floors are student residences.

Pioneer Hall has been an integral part of the educational program 
of McMinnville and Linfield College. The building's white cupola is 
a visible landmark across the farm fields of Yamhi11 County. The 
chimes from the carillon resound over the city and signal the on-going 
life of a college which is now in its 117th year on the banks of Cozine 
Creek.
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